Company registration number 00104194 (England and Wales)
WATFORD ASSOCIATION FOOTBALL CLUB LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

# **COMPANY INFORMATION**

Directors S 1 Duxbury

D B Fransen S R Timperley

Secretary P J Wastall

Company number 00104194

Registered office Vicarage Road Stadium

Watford Herts WD18 0ER

Auditor Myers Clark

Egale 1

80 St Albans Road

Watford Hertfordshire WD17 1DL

# CONTENTS

	Page
Strategic report	1 - 4
Directors' report	5 - 8
Directors' responsibilities statement	9
Independent auditor's report	10 - 13
Profit and loss account	14
Statement of comprehensive income	15
Balance sheet	16
Statement of changes in equity	17
Statement of cash flows	18
Notes to the financial statements	19 - 43

#### STRATEGIC REPORT

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

The directors present their report on the affairs of The Watford Association Football Club Limited ("the Company" or "the Club"), together with the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

#### Background

As at the year end, the Club's Board consists of three directors (as detailed in the Company information section on the first page), being the executive chairman and two independent non-executive directors.

The executive chairman has responsibility, in close liaison with other directors, for the day to day running and long term operation and running of the Club and refers to the Board in regard to significant decisions affecting all aspects of the Club.

#### **Promoting Success of the Company**

Section 172(1) (A) to (F) of the Companies Act 2006 require Directors to explain how they considered the interests of key stakeholders when performing their duty to promote the success of the Company. This includes considering the interest of other stakeholders which will have an impact on the long-term success of the Company. The Board welcomes the direction of the UK Financial Reporting Council (the 'FRC'). This S172 statement explains how Watford FC (WFC) Directors consider:

\$172(1) (A) "The likely consequences of any decision in the long term"

The Directors understand the business and the evolving environment in which we operate, including from the footballing side, the challenges of identifying and scouting new talent. Based on WFC's purpose to scout young talent and develop them into professional athletes by providing a clear path to first team football, the strategy set by the Board is intended to strengthen our position as a club with one of the strongest scouting networks globally.

The Directors recognise how our operations are viewed by different parts of society and that some decisions they take today may not align with all stakeholder interests. However, the Directors have taken the decisions they believe best support WFC's strategic ambitions.

\$172(1) (B) "The interests of the company's employees"

The Directors recognise that WFC employees are fundamental and core to our business and delivery of our strategic ambitions. The success of our business depends on attracting, retaining and motivating employees. From ensuring that we remain a responsible employer, from pay and benefits to our health, safety and workplace environment, the Directors factor the implications of decisions on employees and the wider workforce, where relevant and feasible.

\$172(1) (C) "The need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others"

Delivering our strategy requires strong mutually beneficial relationships with suppliers, customers, governments, other football clubs and regulatory bodies. WFC seeks the promotion and application of certain general principles in such relationships. The Club continuously assesses the priorities related to customers and those with whom we do business.

S172(1) (D) "The impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment"

This aspect is inherent in our strategic ambitions, most notably the Club has partnered with the local community in various projects including supporting the NHS, local schools and various charitable trusts. As such, the Board receives information on these topics to both provide relevant information for specific Board decisions.

\$172(1) (E) "The desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct"

WFC aims to meet the world's growing need to be environmentally and socially responsible. The Board periodically reviews and approves clear frameworks. This, complemented by the ways the Board is informed and monitors compliance with relevant governance standards help assure its decisions are taken and that WFC act in ways that promote high standards of business conduct.

#### STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### Promoting the success of the Company (cont.)

\$172(1) (F) "The need to act fairly as between members of the company"

After weighing up all relevant factors, the Directors consider which course of action best enables delivery of our strategy through the long-term, taking into consideration the impact on stakeholders.

#### Employee engagement

WFC has a number of effective workforce engagement mechanisms in place across the Club:

- · Employees are kept informed of performance and strategy through regular appraisals and performance reviews
- · The executive directors attend key business meetings throughout the year
- Employee engagement surveys are undertaken covering the vast majority of the workforce, and the results are reported to the Board

#### **Business Review**

2021/22 was a challenging year for the Club as the Club were promoted into the Premier League but were unable to retain Premier League status at the end of the season.

#### Principal Risks and Uncertanties

There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have a material impact on the Company's long term performance. These risks and uncertainties are monitored by the Board on a regular basis.

#### Income

The Club derives its income from three principal sources: gate receipts, television and commercial relationships. All three sources of income are dependent on the performance of the 1st team and its appeal to football supporters. The performance of the first team is significantly influenced by the quality of the coaching staff and the players that the Club can attract in a highly competitive market on both domestic and European levels.

#### Expenditure

In order to attract talent, which will continue to improve the performances of the first team, the Club continually invests in the playing staff by way of both transfers and wages.

#### Regulatory environment

The Club is regulated by the rules of the FA, EPL, EFL, UEFA and FIFA. These regulations have a direct impact on the Club as they cover areas such as the division of centrally negotiated television deals and the operation of the transfer market. The Club has staff whose roles include ensuring that the Club monitors the evolution of the rules and ensures compliance with them.

#### Funding

Funds are provided by the Club's parent company. Hornets Investment Limited. The Club reviews and updates its cash forecasts on a regular basis and keeps the owners aware of financial commitments going forwards.

The Board has considered the risks and uncertainties that face the business which are principally related to the costs and revenues involved in maintaining a playing squad and trading in players. It has also considered the financing requirements of the business that may result and these are referred to in note 1.2.

#### Corporation tax

In April 2017 the government made a change to the corporation tax legislation. This change restricts the amount of previously accumulated corporation tax losses that a company can utilise against its taxable profits in any one period. For the Club this means that corporation tax will be due in earlier periods than if the change in legislation had not taken place.

# STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### **Development and Performance**

The Club's owners continue to be committed to new investment into the business to ensure the quick promotion back to the Premier League. Investment continues in respect of playing staff and updating the facilities at the Stadium and the Club's Training Ground at London Colney. This strategy continues to be evident at the Vicarage Read Stadium as the Club continue to review options for further development of the Stadium in order to increase capacities in both hospitality and general seating areas. The Club has also maintained investment in its playing squad, in order to sustain performance and ensure promotion back to the Premier League.

#### **Key Performance Indicators**

	2022	2021
	£'000	as restated £'000
Turnover	128,094	57,061
Wages and salary costs	(78,601)	(65,696)
Other operating expenses	(44,247)	(27,660)
Amortisation and impairment of player registrations	(29,684)	(35,930)
Other operating income	240	2,908
Operating loss	(24,198)	(69,317)
Profit on disposal of player registrations	15,337	55,719
Net interest charges	(7,269)	(5,439)
Profit/ (Loss) on ordinary activities before taxation	(16,130)	(19,037)
Cash generated (absorbed) by operations	(5,091)	(43,523)
Wages to revenue ratio	61%	115%
League position	19th	2nd
League	Premier League	Championship

#### STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### Financial Review

The loss for the year was £17.7m compared to a loss of £18.3m for the prior year. The gross loss for the year was £1.7m compared to £55.7m in the prior year and this is mainly due to the Club participating in the Premier League in 2021/22 which attracted higher broadcasting revenues.

Total turnover increased by £71.0m from £57.1m to £128.1m. This was mainly due to broadcasting income as the Club was entitled to full broadcasting revenues as opposed to the parachute payments as a relegated club in the prior year.

Salary costs have increased overall from £65.4m to £79m.

Other operating expenses have increased from £27.7m last year to £44.2m mainly due to a increase in football costs.

The Football Club made a profit on disposal of player registrations of £15.3m (2021: £55.7m) principally due to the sale of Hernandez Suarez and Hughes.

Intangible assets have decreased from £82.3m to £64.7m mainly due to player disposals during the year.

As in previous years, the financial performance of the Club is reflective of its position in the League and whether the Club is participating in the Premier League or the EFL; turnover increased overall this year due to participating in the Premier League as opposed to the EFL last year.

Promotion into the Premier League for the 2023/24 season is the goal we now set ourselves and the shareholders are committed to invest in the Club to support the goal to realise this ambition. The Club continues to enhance its value and performance on and off the pitch by investing in upgrades for both the Stadium and the training ground, along with strengthening the squad in an effort to increase commercial revenues and diversify the revenue streams.

On behalf of the board

S 1 Duxbury

Director

31 March 2023

#### **DIRECTORS' REPORT**

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

#### Principal activities

During the year, the principal activity of the Company continued to be that of a Premier League football club. At the end of the 2021/22 season the Club was relegated to the Championship.

#### Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out on page 14.

The Company recorded a loss before taxation of £16,130,000 (2021: £19,037,000).

The results for the year, together with a review of the Company's business performance for the year, its future prospects and its approach to financial risk management, are considered in the Strategic Report.

No ordinary dividends were paid. The directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend.

#### Directors

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial statements were as follows:

S 1 Duxbury

D B Fransen

S R Timperley

#### Directors' insurance

The Company has in place Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance with a third party.

#### Disabled persons

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment within the Company continues and that the appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

# **DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)**

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### Employee involvement

Within the bounds of commercial confidentiality, the Company endeavours to keep staff at all levels informed of matters that affect the progress of the Company and are of interest to them as employees.

The Company operates an equal opportunities policy. The aim of the policy is to ensure that there should be equal opportunity for all and this applies to external recruitment, internal appointments, terms of employment, conditions of service and opportunity for training and promotion regardless of gender, ethnic origin or disability. Disabled persons are given full and fair consideration for all types of vacancy in as much as the opportunities available are constrained by the practical limitations of their disability. Should for whatever reason, an employee of the Company become disabled whilst in employment, every step, where appropriate, will be taken to assist with rehabilitation and suitable retraining.

The Company maintains its own health, safety and environmental policies covering all aspects of its operations. Regular meetings and inspections take place to ensure all legal requirements are adhered to and that the Company is responsive to the needs of its employees and the environment.

The Company has a number of effective workforce engagement mechanisms in place across the Club:

- · Employees are kept informed of performance and strategy through regular appraisals and performance reviews;
- The executive directors attend key business meetings throughout the year;
- Employee engagement surveys are undertaken covering the vast majority of the workforce, and the results are reported to the Board.

#### Post reporting date events

Details of the post balance sheet events are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

#### Auditor

A resolution proposing that Myers Clark be reappointed as auditor of the Company will be put to a meeting of the Board of Directors.

#### Energy and carbon report

Methodology follows best practice and is based on HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines March 2019. All emissions factors are taken from UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting, version 1.0, 2022 factors.

Scope 1 and Scope 2 consumption data (gas and electricity) taken from validated and verified Utility Suppliers invoices. Scope 1 and 3 (transport) data taken from internal tracking systems, and applicable emissions factors applied; Company fleet classed as scope 1 emissions as defined in HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines March 2019.

# **DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)**

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

The table below summarises the GHG emissions for reporting year: 1st July 2021 to 30th June 2022

Energy Consumption (kWh)	FY22 (Jul21-Jun22)
Gas (Scope 1)	2,944,959
Other Fuels (Scope 1)	991,719
Electricity (Scope 2)	3,273,301
Transport Fuel (Scope 1 - Company Fleet)	243,476
Total	7,453,455
Emissions (tCO2e)	
Gas (Scope 1)	538
Other Fuels (Scope 1)	250
Electricity (Scope 2)	633
Electricity (Scope 3)	58
Transport Fuel (Scope 1 - Company Fleet)	58
Transport Fuel (Scope 3 - Grey Fleet)	49
Total (All Scopes)	1,537

Due to the diverse range of services offered by Watford F.C. including ground maintenance, sale of merchandise and sports management, the intensity metric of  $1CO2e / \pounds M$  turnover was chosen.

	2021-2022	2020-2021
Normalisation Metric:	£128,000,000	£57,100,000
Intensity Ratio: (tCO2e/£M)	12.01	28.76

# **Energy Efficiency Action Plan**

- 1) Installation of energy monitoring system
- 2) Forming of a sustainabaility working group that includes review of energy usage
- 3) Board approval for solar panel
- 4) Board approval for CHP+
- 5) Commission of lighting survey

#### Statement of disclosure to auditor

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the C ompany's auditor is unaware. Additionally, the directors individually have taken all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of all relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

# Going concern

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foresecable future. Therefore they have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the going concern basis can be found in the accounting policies in note 1 to the financial statements.

# DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

On behalf of the board			

S I Duxbury **Director** 

31 March 2023

#### **DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT**

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
  continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

#### TO THE MEMBERS OF THE WATFORD ASSOCIATION FOOTBALL CLUB LIMITED

#### Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The Watford Association Football Club Limited (the 'Company') for the year ended 30 June 2022 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 30 June 2022 and of its loss for the year then ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

#### Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

#### Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

# Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit:

- the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
  prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
- the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

#### TO THE MEMBERS OF THE WATFORD ASSOCIATION FOOTBALL CLUB LIMITED

#### Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- · we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

#### Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

#### Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

#### Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identified and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following;

- the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the remuneration policies, key drivers for directors' remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;
- results of our enquiries of Management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities;
- any matters we identified having obtained and review the company's documentation of their policies and procedures relating to;
- · identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulation and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
- · detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
- the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;
- the matters discussed among the audit engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

#### TO THE MEMBERS OF THE WATFORD ASSOCIATION FOOTBALL CLUB LIMITED

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the company operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included those set out by football industry specific organisations including the Football Association (the FA), UEFA, FIFA, the English Football League (the EFL) and the English Premier League (the EPL) and those set out by the UK Companies Act and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the company's ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the Employment law and the Health and Safety Act.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the principal risk as management bias in relation to accounting estimates, revenue recognition, journal entries and recognition of liabilities. Our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

- testing the completeness of income from outside the accounting system to within;
- agreeing the financial statement disclosure to supporting documentation;
- making enquiries of management and the in-house legal team regarding actual and potential litigation and claims;
- · review of minutes from meetings of those charged with governance;
- performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;
- reviewing correspondence with HMRC, relevant regulators such as the FA, FIFA, UEFA, EFL and the EPL, and the company's legal advisors;
- review of post year end payments and invoices;
- testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business; and
- · challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed that laws and regulations are from financial transactions, the less likely it is that we would become aware of non-compliance. Auditing standards also limit the audit procedures required to identify non-compliance with laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and the inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.

Material misstatements that arise due to fraud can be harder to detect than those that arise from error as they may involve deliberate concealment or collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

#### Other matters which we are required to address

As part of our audit of the 2022 financial statements, we also audited the adjustments described in Note 32 that were applied to amend the 2021 financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied.

# INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

# TO THE MEMBERS OF THE WATFORD ASSOCIATION FOOTBALL CLUB LIMITED

#### Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Paul Windmill Senior Statutory Auditor For and on behalf of Myers Clark

31 March 2023

Chartered Accountants Statutory Auditor

Egale 1 80 St Albans Road Watford Hertfordshire WD17 1DL

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

Loss for the financial year	Tax on profit/(loss)	Loss before taxation	Interest receivable and similar income Interest payable and similar expenses Profit on disposal of player registrations	Operating loss	Administrative expenses Other operating income	Gross loss	Turnover Cost of sales	
	10		<b>v</b> 5 <b>x</b> 0	4			دب	Notes
(3,852)	(1,569)	(2,283)	(7,280) -	4,986	(22,750) 240	27,496	(100,098)	Operations excluding player trading
(13,847)	1	(13,847)	15,337	(29,184)	1 1	(29,184)	500 (29,684)	Player trading £'000
(17,699)	(1,569)	(16,130)	(7,280) 15,337	(24,198)	(22,750) 240	(1,688)	128,094 (129,782)	Year ended 30 June 2022
(39,576)	787	(40,363)	(5,451)	(34,924)	(16,512) 2,908	(21,320)	55,524 (76,844)	Operations excluding player trading
21,326	1	21,326	55,719	(34,393)		(34,393)	1,537 (35.930)	Player trading
(18.250)	787	(19,037)	12 (5,451) 55,719	(69,317)	(16.512) 2,908	(55,713)	57,061 (112,774)	Year ended 30 June 2021 as restated £'000

# STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

	2022 £'000	2021 as restated £'00 <del>0</del>
Loss for the year	(17,699)	(18,250)
Other comprehensive income  Tax relating to other comprehensive income	575	(772)
Total comprehensive income for the year	(17,124)	(19,022)

# BALANCE SHEET

# AS AT 30 JUNE 2022

		2022	2022		
	Notes	£'000	£'000	as restated £'000	£'000
Fixed assets					
Intangible assets	11		64,717		82,297
Tangible assets	12		92,775		96,578
			157,492		178,875
Current assets			,		•
Stocks	13	242		173	
Debtors falling due after more than one year	-				
,	14	12,604		17,259	
Debtors - deferred tax	20	10,169		10,169	
Debtors falling due within one year	14	40,257		35,419	
Cash at bank and in hand		1,200		4,776	
		64,472		67,796	
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year					
	15	(131,330)		(176,270)	
Net current liabilities			(66,858)		(108,474)
Total assets less current liabilities			90,634		70,401
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than					
one year	16		(118,929)		(82,422)
Provisions for liabilities	19		(6,634)		(5,724)
Deferred capital grants and contributions	21		(241)		(201)
	21		(241)		(301)
Net liabilities			(35,170)		(18,046)
Capital and reserves					
Called up share capital	23		1,073		1,073
Revaluation reserve			54,429		55,530
Profit and loss reserves			(90,672)		(74,649)
Total equity			(35,170)		(18,046)

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 31 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

S I Duxbury

Director

Company Registration No. 00104194

# STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

	Share capital	Revaluation reserve	Profit and loss reserves	Total
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
As restated for the period ended 30 June 2021:				
Balance at 1 July 2020	1,073	57,978	(50,108)	8.943
Prior period adjustment	-	-	(7,967)	(7,967)
As restated	1,073	57,978	(58,075)	976
Year ended 30 June 2021:				
Loss for the year	-	-	(18,250)	(18,250)
Other comprehensive income:				
Tax relating to other comprehensive income		(772)	-	(772)
Total comprehensive income for the year		(772)	(18,250)	(19,022)
Transfers	-	(1,676)	1,676	-
Balance at 30 June 2021	1,073	55,530	(74,649)	(18,046)
Year ended 30 June 2022:				
Loss for the year	-	-	(17,699)	(17,699)
Other comprehensive income:				
Tax relating to other comprehensive income		575		575
Total comprehensive income for the year		575	(17,699)	(17,124)
Transfers	-	(1,676)	1,676	-
Balance at 30 June 2022	1,073	54,429	(90,672)	(35,170)

# STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

		2022		2021	
	Notes	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Cash flows from operating activities					
Cash absorbed by operations	30		(5,091)		(43,523)
Interest paid			(4,480)		(6,188)
Net cash outflow from operating activities			(9,571)		(49,711)
1					
Investing activities Purchase of intangible assets		(31,593)		(29,600)	
Proceeds on disposal of intangibles		52,442		49,187	
Purchase of tangible fixed assets		(1,180)		(1,257)	
Interest received		11		12	
Interest received				12	
Net cash generated from investing activities		<del></del>	19,680		18,342
Financing activities					
Repayment of directors loan		(965)		_	
Proceeds from borrowings		57,150		66,361	
Proceeds of group loans				794	
Repayment of group loans		(25,000)		(5,000)	
Repayment of other loans		(45,079)		(11,199)	
Payment of finance leases obligations		(588)		(246)	
Advance of finance leases		1,274		-	
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing					
activities			(13,208)		50,710
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equi	valents				
			(3,099)		19,341
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year			4,299		(15,042)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year			1,200		4,299
Daladara					
Relating to: Cash at bank and in hand			1,200		4,776
Bank overdrafts included in creditors payable w	ithin				•
one year			=		(477)

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 1 Accounting policies

#### Company information

The Watford Association Football Club Limited is a private company limited by shares incorporated in England and Wales. The registered office is Vicarage Road Stadium, Watford, Herts, WD18 0ER.

#### 1.1 Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" ("FRS 102") and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company. Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £'000.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of freehold properties and to include investment properties and certain financial instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

The Watford Association Football Club Limited is a 99.7% owned subsidiary of Hornets Investment Limited. The results of the Club are included in the consolidated accounts of Hornets Investment Limited which are available at 38 Craven Street, London, WC2N 5NG.

#### 1.2 Going concern

The Company had a loss before tax for the year of £16,130,000 (2021: £19,037,000) and had net liabilities at 30 June 2022 of £35,170,000 (2021: liabilities of £18,046,000).

The Company's income over the next twelve months, along with player disposals and the continued support of the parent company, is sufficient to provide the necessary working capital for the Company and therefore it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The parent company has confirmed that they will not seek repayment of the balance outstanding to them of £46,664,000 (2021: £71,679,000) if to do so would jeopardise the Club's ability to continue as a going concern. The Club's owner is committed to new investment into the business in respect of playing staff and in order to update the facilities at the Stadium and the ultimate beneficial owner has entered into a financial commitment to financially support the Company for the next 12 months.

#### 1.3 Turnover

Turnover represents income arising from sales to third parties and excludes transfer fees receivable (which are dealt with in the profit on disposal of players' registrations) and value added tax. Included in turnover are match day receipts and other match day income.

Season ticket and corporate hospitality income is recognised over the period of the football season as home matches are played.

Fixed elements of English Premier League central broadcasting contracts are recognised over the period of the football season as league matches (home and away) are played.

Sponsorship contracts are recognised over the duration of the contract, either on a straight-line basis, or over the period of the football season, as appropriate, based on the terms of the contract.

#### Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue arises principally from the advance sale of season tickets, executive boxes and players' loan fees and is recognised as income in the period to which it relates.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### 1.4 Intangible fixed assets other than goodwill

#### Acquired players' registrations

The costs associated with the acquisition of players' registrations are initially recorded at the date of acquisition as intangible fixed assets. Part of the acquisition cost may be dependent upon the number of appearances and the directors exercise their judgement on the probability of the deferred consideration becoming payable and capitalising that cost as an intangible asset. These costs are fully amortised over the period of the relevant player's contract.

The Company will perform an impairment review on player registrations if adverse events indicate that the amortised carrying value of its intangible assets may not be recoverable. Whilst no individual player can be separated from the cash generating unit (CGU), which is represented by the playing squad and the football operations of the Company as a whole, there may be certain circumstances where a player is taken out of the CGU. Such circumstances might include a player being excluded from the playing squad due to sustaining a career threatening injury or other events which mean it is highly unlikely a particular player will ever play for the Club again. If such circumstances were to arise and be considered permanent, then the carrying value of the player would be assessed against management's best estimate of the fair value less any costs to sell and, if necessary, a provision would be made.

Amortisation is charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the length of each player's contract.

#### Software and website development costs

Software and website development costs (not research costs) are recognised as internally generated intangibles when the following can be demonstrated:

- a) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
- b) its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it.
- c) its ability to use or sell the intangible asset.
- d) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits.
- e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset.
- f) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Amortisation is charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over 10 years.

# 1.5 Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, net of depreciation and any impairment losses. Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are brought into use.

Capital grants and contributions to capital expenditure are credited to deferred income and released to the profit and loss account over the expected useful life of the assets to which they relate.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful lives on the following bases:

Freehold land and buildings over 25 years and 10 years

Leasehold improvements over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and 20 years

Plant and equipment 25% on reducing balance Motor vehicles 25% on reducing balance

Freehold land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. Assets with a Net Book Value of less than £1,000 are written off.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### Accounting policies (Continued)

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset, and is credited or charged to profit or loss.

#### 1.6 Impairment of fixed assets

At each reporting period end date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have ceased to apply. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

#### 1.7 Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost includes purchase price less discounts where applicable. Stock is valued on a FIFO basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price. Provision is made for obsolete or slow moving stocks.

#### 1.8 Cash at bank and in hand

Cash and cash equivalents are basic financial assets and include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

# 1.9 Financial instruments

The Company has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 'Basic Financial Instruments' and Section 12 'Other Financial Instruments Issues' of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments.

Financial instruments are recognised in the Company's balance sheet when the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

#### Basic financial assets

Basic financial assets, which include debtors and cash and bank balances, are initially measured at transaction price including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial assets classified as receivable within one year are not amortised.

# Other financial assets

Other financial assets, including investments in equity instruments which are not subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, are initially measured at fair value, which is normally the transaction price. Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss, except that investments in equity instruments that are not publicly traded and whose fair values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost less impairment.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those held at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows have been affected. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been, had the impairment not previously been recognised. The impairment reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

#### Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or when the Company transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity, or if some significant risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control of the asset has transferred to another party that is able to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party.

#### Classification of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities.

If an arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, the financial liability is measured at the present value of future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.

#### Basic financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including creditors, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies and preference shares that are classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial liabilities classified as payable within one year are not amortised.

#### Other financial liabilities

Debt instruments that do not meet the conditions in FRS 102 paragraph 11.9 are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. Debt instruments may be designated as being measured at fair value through profit or loss to eliminate or reduce an accounting mismatch or if the instruments are measured and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy.

# Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the Company's contractual obligations expire or are discharged or cancelled.

#### 1.10 Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer at the discretion of the Company.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### 1.11 Derivatives

The Company enters into foreign exchange contracts in order to manage its exposure to foreign exchange risk.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting end date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability.

#### 1.12 Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

#### Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the profit and loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date.

#### Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all timing differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the timing difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the rax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss account, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Company has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority.

#### 1.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to settle the obligation is recognised at present value. When a provision is measured at present value, the unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 1 Accounting policies (Continued)

#### 1.14 Employee benefits

The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs are required to be recognised as part of the cost of stock or fixed assets.

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee's services are received. Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Company is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

#### Signing on fees

Signing on fees are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the period of the player's contract.

#### 1.15 Retirement benefits

The Company contributes to The Football League Limited Pension and Life Assurance Scheme for certain employees and also contributes to players' own pension plans, the assets of which are held separately from those of the Company in independently administered funds. Contributions payable are charged to the profit and loss account over the period to which they relate.

In addition the Company is making contributions in respect of its share of the deficit of the defined benefit section of The Football League Limited Pension and Life Assurance Scheme (the "Scheme"). A provision has been established for the Company's share of the deficit which exists in this section of the Scheme and this additional contribution is being charged to the profit and loss account over the remaining service life of those employees who are members of the Scheme.

Under the provisions of FRS 102 Section 28 the Scheme would be treated as a defined benefit multi- employer scheme. The s cheme's actuary has advised that the participating employer's share of the underlying assets and liabilities cannot be identified on a reasonable and consistent basis. Therefore in accordance with FRS 102 Section 28 the Scheme has been accounted for as if it were a defined contribution plan.

#### 1.16 Leases

Rentals payable under operating leases, including any lease incentives received, are charged to income on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Lease incentives are recognised in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

#### 1.17 Grants

Capital grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset received when there is reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and grants will be received.

Grants relating to an asset are recognised in income systematically over the asset's expected useful life. If part of such a grant is deferred it is recognised as deferred income rather than being deducted from the asset's carrying amount.

#### 1.18 Foreign exchange

The Company's accounting records are maintained in Pounds sterling. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Pounds sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of transaction. All differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 2 Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised where the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods where the revision affects both current and future periods.

#### Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are as follows.

#### Current and deferred taxation

The complex nature of the tax legislation under which the Company operates necessitates the use of estimates and assumptions in assessing the tax amounts provided in the financial statements. Actual tax payable may differ from the amounts provided.

#### Cost of intangible assets

Payments made to third parties in order to acquire a player's registration are initially capitalised at cost.

#### Contingent liabilities for player transactions

Creditors and provisions contain allowances for certain contingent amounts to players, agents and clubs which are based on management's best estimate of certain future events from information available to management at the reporting date, such as number of player appearances, and the amount that becomes payable as a result of this event. Actual future costs may differ from the amounts provided.

# Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets within the single cash generating (CGU) unit are reviewed for potential impairment as a whole using estimates of the future economic benefits attributable to them. Such estimates involve assumptions in relation to future ticket income, media and sponsorship revenue and on pitch performance. Intangible assets outside of the CGU are reviewed for impairment individually and assessed against management's best estimate of their value taking into account recent market movements and post balance sheet events. Any estimates of future economic benefits made in relation to intangible assets may differ from benefits that ultimately arise, and materially affect, the recoverable value of the asset.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 3 Turnover and other revenue

The Company has one main business segment, that of professional football operations. As a result, no additional business segment information is required to be provided. It operates in one geographical segment, the United Kingdom, and accordingly no additional geographical information is required to be provided.

Notwithstanding this, a voluntary analysis of the revenue streams is given below to assist with an understanding of the business.

Revenue streams comprise:

Matchday - season and matchday tickets and corporate hospitality.

**Media** - television and broadcasting income, including distributions from the English Premier League broadcasting agreements, cup competitions and local radio.

Commercial - sponsorship income & merchandising.

Other - loan fee receivable and other sundry income.

	2022 £'000	2021 £'000
Townson and hard by day of hards an	£.000	£ 000
Turnover analysed by class of business		
Matchday	6,760	1,581
Media & Broadcasting	85,255	49,779
Commercial	36,055	4,102
Other	24	1,599
	128,094	57,061
	2022	2021
	£'000	£'000
Other significant revenue		
Interest income	11	12
Release of capital grants	60	60
Other	180	2,848

Included within other income in 2021 is £2,500,000 which relates to amounts receivable for a business interruption insurance claim due to Covid-19.

# 4 Operating loss

	2022	2021
Operating loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):	£'000	£'000
Exchange differences apart from those arising on financial instruments measured at fair value		
through profit or loss	1,271	(1,063)
Government grants	(60)	(60)
Depreciation of owned tangible fixed assets	5,971	6,014
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets held under finance leases	532	163
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets	135	-
Amortisation of intangible assets	29,737	35,982
Operating lease charges	337	184

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

# 4 Operating loss (Continued)

There is £1,587,000 of impairment (2021: £2,539,000) included within the amortisation charge for the year.

# 5 Auditor's remuneration

Fees payable to the Company's auditor and associates:	2022 £'000	2021 £'000
For audit services		
Audit of the financial statements of the Company	50	40
	_	=
For other services		
Other services	44	37
Taxation compliance services	8	9
	52	46

#### 6 Employees

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the Company during the year was:

	2022	2021
	Number	Number
Players	85	71
Coaching staff	65	60
Part-time coaching staff	24	24
Commercial staff	46	49
Part-time commercial staff	51	32
Administration	67	62
Ground staff	23	28
	361	326

In addition to the above the Company employed an average of 94 (2021: 106) part-time match day staff during the year.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

6	Employees		(Continued)
	Their aggregate remuneration comprised:		
		2022	2021
		£'000	as restated £'000
		2 000	& 000
	Wages and salaries	69,230	57,638
	Social security costs	9,395	7,366
	Pension costs (defined contribution)	344	371
		78,969	65,375
	Termination benefits made or committed	7,807	2,236
	Termination betterns made of committeed		====
7	Directors' remuneration		
		2022	2021
		£'000	£'000
	Remuneration for qualifying services	970	881
	Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes		53
		970	934
	Remuneration disclosed above includes the following amounts paid to the highest paid director:		
		2022	2021
		£'000	£'000
	Remuneration for qualifying services	966	878
	Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes		53
8	Interest receivable and similar income		
.,		2022	2021
		£'000	£'000
	Interest income		
	Interest on bank deposits	<u> </u>	====
	Investment income includes the following:		
	Interest on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss	11	12
	Ç 1		

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

1 C	Interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: Interest payable to group undertakings Other interest  Faxation  Deferred tax Origination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based standard rate of tax as follows:	2022 £'000 1,645 5,635 7,280 2022 £'000 1,569	2021 £'000 3,513 1,938 5,451 2021 £'000 (787
1 C	Other interest  Caxation  Deferred tax Origination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based.	1,645 5,635 7,280 2022 £'000	3,511 1,938 5,45 202 £°000
	Content interest  Faxation  Deferred tax  Origination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based.	5,635 7,280 2022 £'000 1,569	1,933 5,45 202 £'000
1 (	Faxation  Deferred tax  Drigination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based.	7,280  2022 £'000  1,569	5,45 202 £'00 (78
I	Deferred tax  Drigination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based	2022 £'000 1,569	202 £'000
I	Deferred tax  Drigination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based	£'000 1,569	£'004 (78'
7	Origination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based	£'000 1,569	£'004 (78'
7	Origination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based	1,569	(78'
7	Origination and reversal of timing differences  The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based		
7	The actual charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based		
		on the profit or loss a	nd the
		2022	202
		£'000	£'006
1	_oss before taxation	(16,130)	(19,037
F	Expected tax credit based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19.00% (2021:		
	19.00%)	(3,065)	(3,61
Т	Fax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit	343	590
Į	Jnutilised tax losses carried forward	3,000	1,58
	Adjustments in respect of prior years	(516)	(51
	nterest previously disallowed now allowable as paid	(254)	(34)
(	Capital allowances & depreciation	2,061	1,50:
Т	Taxation charge/(credit) for the year	1,569	(78
	In addition to the amount charged/(credited) to the profit and loss account, the following tax adjustirectly in other comprehensive income:	stment has been recog	gnised
		2022	202
		£'000	£'006
	Deferred tax arising on: Revaluation of property	(575)	77:

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

11

1 Intangible fixed assets				
	Goodwill	Website	Players' registrations	Total
	£,000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Cost				
At 1 July 2021	177	523	187,031	187,731
Additions	-	15	23,953	23,968
Disposals	(177)	-	(54,279)	(54,456)
At 30 June 2022	-	538	156,705	157,243
Amortisation and impairment				
At I July 2021	177	239	105,018	105,434
Amortisation charged for the year	-	53	29,684	29,737
Disposals	(177)	=	(42,468)	(42,645)
At 30 June 2022	-	292	92,234	92,526
Carrying amount				
At 30 June 2022	-	246	64,471	64,717
At 30 June 2021		284	82,013	82,297

The figure for cost of player registrations are historic cost figures for purchased players only. Accordingly, the net book amount of player registrations will not reflect, nor is it intended to reflect, the current market value of these players nor does it take any account of players developed through the Club's youth system.

The directors consider the value of intangible assets to be significantly greater than their book value.

The amortisation of players' registration costs is included within cost of sales in the profit and loss account.

There is £1,587,000 of impairment (2021: £2,539,000) included within the amortisation charge for the year.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

12	Tanadala finad assets	
14	Tangible fixed assets	

rangione fixed assets				
	Freehold land and buildings	Leaschold land and buildings	Plant and equipment	Total
	000°£	£'000	£'000	£'000
Cost or valuation				
At 1 July 2021	103,825	7,296	11,831	122,952
Additions	1	22	3,010	3,033
Disposals	(1,328)	-	(7)	(1,335)
At 30 June 2022	102,498	7,318	14,834	124,650
Depreciation and impairment				
At 1 July 2021	15,987	2,505	7,879	26,371
Depreciation charged in the year	3,988	723	1,791	6,502
Eliminated in respect of disposals	(996)	-	(2)	(998)
At 30 June 2022	18,979	3,228	9,668	31,875
Carrying amount				
At 30 June 2022	83,519	4,090	5,166	92,775
At 30 June 2021	87,838	4,789	3,951	96,578

The net carrying value of tangible fixed assets includes the following in respect of assets held under finance leases or hire purchase contracts.

	2022	2021
	£'000	£'000
Fixtures and fittings	1,670	489

Capitalised under assets under construction are the improvement works being made to the Company's stadium and training ground facilities, which are to be transferred to the corresponding asset category on completion of the works.

The Company's freehold land and buildings were revalued as at 30 June 2020 to a value of £92,040,000. The valuation was carried out by CBRE Ltd, independent external valuers, on a depreciated replacement cost basis in accordance with the current RICS Valuation – Global Standards (incorporating the International Valuation Standards) and the UK national supplement (the Red Book). In preparing their valuation CBRE have made various assumptions as to tenure, letting, taxation, town planning, and the condition and repair of buildings and sites – including ground and groundwater contamination, as is common with any Red Book valuation. At the balance sheet date the directors consider that the value of the freehold land and buildings is not materially different to the value in the accounts.

If revalued assets were stated on an historical cost basis rather than a depreciated replacement cost value basis, the total amounts included would have been as follows:

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

12	Tangible fixed assets		(Continued)		
		Freehold			
		2022	2021		
		£'000	£'000		
	Cost	40,412	41,739		
	Accumulated depreciation	(15,696)	(14,311)		
	Carrying value	24,716	27,428		
13	Stocks	2022	2021		
		£'000	£'000		
	Goods for resale	242	173		

The estimated replacement cost of stocks does not materially differ from their balance sheet value.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

	Debtors		2022	2024
	Amounts falling due within one year:		2022 £'000	2021 £'000
	Trade debtors		3,108	6,745
	Transfer fees receivable		34,114	23,165
	Prepayments and accrued income		3,035	5,509
			40,257	35,419
			2022	2021
	Amounts falling due after more than one year;		£'000	£'000
	Transfer fees receivable		11,919	16,553
	Prepayments and accrued income		685	706
			12,604	17,259
	Deferred tax asset (note 20)		10,169	10,169
			22,773	27,428
	Total debtors		63,030	62,847
15	Creditors: amounts falling due within one year		2022	2021
				as restated
		Notes	£'000	£'000
	Bank loans and overdrafts	17	-	477
	Obligations under finance leases	18	683	213
	Other borrowings	17	35,323	82,328
	Trade creditors		6,835 25,414	4,990 38,336
	Player registration costs  Corporation tax		23,414	36,530 1
	Corporation tax		9,199	18,421
	Other taxation and social security			
	Other taxation and social security Other creditors		35,358	8,903
		17	·	•
	Other creditors	17	·	8,903 965 21,636

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

16	Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year			
••	ore area and a second ore year		2022	2021
		Notes	£'000	£'000
	Obligations under finance leases	18	541	249
	Other borrowings	17	88,829	54,827
	Player registration costs		29,219	24,074
	Accruals and deferred income		340	3,272
			118,929	82,422
17	Loans and overdrafts		2022	2021
			£'000	£'000
			x.000	£.000
	Bank overdrafts		-	477
	Loans from group undertakings		46,664	71,679
	Other loans		77,488	66,441
			124,152	138,597
	Payable within one year		35,323	83,770
	Payable after one year		88,829	54,827

#### Loans from group undertakings

Loans from group undertakings includes the following loans with the immediate parent company, Hornets Investment Limited:

A £40,794,000 loan, attracting an effective interest rate over the year of 2.95%. The opening balance on this loan was £65,794,000 and during the year a repayment of £25,000,000 was made. The amount payable within one year is £nil (2021: £20,794,000). Total interest charged in the year is £1,403,000 (2021: £3,259,000). Unpaid interest at the year end amounted to £1,500,000 (2021: £1,475,000).

An unsecured interest free loan of £1,020,000 (2021: £1,035,000). This is repayable on demand and is therefore due within one year.

A £2,250,000 loan, attracting interest of 4.5% per annum. The total amount is due in less than one year (2021: £2,250,000). Total interest charged in the year is £101,000 (2021: £101,000). Unpaid interest at the year end amounted to £228,000 (2021: £152,000).

 $\Delta$  £1,000,000 loan, fully repayable in less than one year (2021: £1,000,000). The loan attracts interest of 4.5% per annum. Total interest charged in the year was £45,000 (2021: £45,000). Unpaid interest at the year end amounted to £373,000 (2021: £328,000).

A £1,600,000 loan, fully repayable in less than one year (2021: £1,600,000). The loan attracts interest of 6% per annum. Total interest charged during the year was £96,000 (2021: £96,000). Unpaid interest at the year end amounted to £532,000 (2021: £436,000).

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 17 Loans and overdrafts (Continued)

#### Other loans

Other loans includes the following:

A secured loan from Watford FC's Community Sports & Education Trust of £319,000 (2021: £319,000), attracting interest of 1.5% above Barclays Bank base rate. The balance due in less than one year is £100,000 (2021: £50,000). The balance due in more than one year is £269,000 (2021: £7,000). The total interest charged for the year is £7,000 (2021: £7,000).

An unsecured directors loan of £965,000, attracting interest at 3% per annum was repaid during the year. Total interest charged in the year amounted to £32,000 (2021: £29,000).

A secured loan from an independent finance provider of £4.760,000 (2021: £9,521,000) attracting interest of 5.51%pa. The total amount is repayable within one year. Total interest charged for the year was £367,000 (2021: £307,000. A second secured loan from the same provider of £31,883,000 was repaid during the year. Total interest charged during the year was £1,005,000 (2021: £366,000). A third secured loan from the same provider of £2,000,000 was introduced during the year, of which £1,000,000 was repaid. The outstanding balance of £1,000,000 is due within one year. The interest charged in the year was £81,000. Total prepaid interest at the year end was £20,000. A fourth secured loan from the same provider of £1,000,000 was introduced during the year, of which £500,000 was repaid. The interest charged in the year was £47,000. Total prepaid interest at the year end was £8,000.

A secured loan from an independent finance provider of £16,757,000 (2021: £16,738,000). The movement in the loan value relates to foreign exchange. At the year end the total loan was repayable within one year, however since the end of the year the repayment terms have been extended so that the total amount is now due in more than one year. A secured loan of £6,940,000 from the same provider was repaid during the year. Total interest charged on the above two loans was £609,000 (2021: £289,000). The total interest prepaid at the year end was £432,000 (2021: £1,425,000). A secured loan of £50,000,000 from the same provider was introduced in November 2021 of which £21,017,000 is repayable within one year. Interest charged during the year was £2,714,000 with £762,000 uppaid at the year end. A further secured loan of £4,152,000 from the same provider was introduced in March 2022 of which £2,076,000 is payable after one year. Interest charged during the year was £58,000 and the total amount of interest prepaid was £203,000. Interest on the above loans is charged at market rates between 5.35% and 8.43%pa.

#### Security

Homets Investment Limited hold a fixed and floating charge secured over all assets and undertakings of the Company.

An independent finance provider holds a fixed and floating charge secured over all assets and undertakings of the Company.

The carrying amount of the total assets of the Company is £241.852,000 (2021: £246,671,000) and the carrying amount of the Vicarage Road Stadium is £83.235,000 (2021: £87,839,000).

# 18 Finance lease obligations

Within one year 683 213	Future minimum has a many sate due and a finance has a	2022	2021
•	Future minimum lease payments due under finance leases:	£'000	£'000
In two to five years 541 249	Within one year	683	213
	In two to five years	541	249
<del></del>			
1,224 462		1,224	462

Finance lease payments represent rentals payable by the Company for certain items of plant and machinery. The finance lease liabilities are secured by the asset held under the lease. The lease agreements includes fixed lease payments, and no restrictions are placed on the use of the asset.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

19	Provisions for liabilities			
• -			2022	2021
			£'000	£'000
	Pension provision		388	472
	Deferred tax liabilities	20	6,246	5,252
			6,634	5,724
	Movements on provisions:		Pensio	on provision
				£'000
	Additional provisions in the year			472
	Utilisation of provision			(84)
	At 30 June 2022			388
				===

At the year end the amount due in relation to the defined benefit scheme was reclassified from being a liability to being a provision. The movement in the year is shown in note 22.

# 20 Deferred taxation

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Company and movements thereon:

Balances:	Liabilities 2022 £'000	Liabilities 2021 £'000	Assets 2022 £'000	Assets 2021 £'000
Decelerated capital allowances	1,943	373	-	-
Tax losses	-	-	10,169	10,169
Revaluations	4,303	4,879	-	-
	6,246	5,252	10,169	10,169
Movements in the year:				2022 £'000
Asset at 1 July 2021				(4,917)
Charge to profit or loss				1,569
Credit to other comprehensive income				(575)
Asset at 30 June 2022				(3,923)

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

20 Deferred taxation (Continued)

The substantively enacted tax rate remains at 19% as at the balance sheet date. It was announced on 3rd March 2021 that the main rate of corporation tax will increase from 19% to 25% from 1st April 2023. The new rate was officially became law in the Finance Bill 2021 which received royal assent in June 2021. Deferred tax assets and liabilities have therefore been estimated using the new enacted rate of 25% (2021: 25%).

The value of the deferred tax asset is based on expected future profits, taking into account various assumptions including profits on disposal of player registrations.

The Club is not able to reliably estimate the amount of deferred tax asset and liability that will reverse in the next 12 month period.

#### 21 Deferred income

	2022 £'000	2021 £'000
Arising from deferred capital grants and contributions	241	301

Capital grants include a balance of £675 (2021: £675) relating to the grant received principally from the Football Stadium Improvement Fund, formerly the Football Trust, towards the cost of stadium re-development.

Also included is a grant received towards the cost of catering equipment. At the balance sheet date £240,000 (2021; £300,000) of this remains within deferred income.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

22	Retirement benefit schemes			
			2022	2021
	Defined contribution schemes		£'000	£'000
	Charge to profit or loss in respect of defined contribution schemes		344	424
				_
	Defined benefit scheme			
		2022	2021	
		£'000	£'000	
	Liability at start of the year	472	80	

As one of a number of participating employers in the defined benefit scheme, the Company has only been advised of its share of the deficit of the Scheme and as such the Company has only recognised their share as a liability.

(84)

388

(44)

436

472

As a result, the contributions paid to the scheme reduce the provision. The Company is unable to identify its share of underlying assets and liabilities within the Scheme on a consistent and reliable basis and therefore accounts for the Scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the Scheme was at August 2020 and indicated that contributions required from the Company towards making good of the deficit was £533,592 at 1 September 2020 (the total deficit in the Scheme at this date was £27.5 million). The Company's share of the deficit is being paid over a period of five years and 10 months commencing September 2020.

Additional contributions are being charged to the profit and loss account over the remaining life of those employees who are members of the Scheme. The amount charged to the profit and loss account during the year was £nil (2021; £436,000).

#### 23 Share capital

Payments in year

Increase in provision

Liability at end of year

	2022	2021
	£'000	£'000
Issued and fully paid		
1,072,722 ordinary shares of £1.00 each	1,073	1,073
13,000,000 ordinary 'A' shares of £0.001 each	-	-
	1,073	1,073

The Ordinary 'A' shares rank pari-passu with the existing Ordinary shares. The shares have attached to them full voting rights, dividend and capital distribution (including on winding up). Any capital distribution shall be applied amongst the holders of the A ordinary shares and ordinary shares pari-passu as though the same constituted one class of shares pro rata to their numerical holdings notwithstanding they are of different nominal values. They do not confer any rights of redemption. Hornets Investment Limited own 99.7% of the Company's issued share capital.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 24 Financial commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities

#### Contingent liabilities and assets

The Company has liabilities under transfer agreements to pay additional sums dependent upon players' attainment and subsequent transfer value. The maximum that can be calculated and could be payable in respect of transfers made before 30 June 2022 is £21,142,000 (2021: £20,574,000). Since the year end £5,084,000 has become payable (2021: £1,322,000).

At 30 June 2022, the Club had sums receivable from other clubs in respect of players, dependent upon the number of first team appearances or percentage sell-on clauses. Due to the uncertainty of receipt of these contingent assets, it is not practical to calculate the amount likely to be received. Since the year end £2.903,000 (2021: £1,838,000) has become due.

#### 25 Operating lease commitments

#### Lesser

26

At the reporting end date the Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

	2022	2021
	£'000	£'000
Within one year	400	383
Between two and five years	1,447	893
In over five years	7,000	7,379
	8,847	8,655
	_	_
Capital commitments		
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements:		
	2022	2021
	£'000	£'000

#### 27 Events after the reporting date

Acquisition of tangible fixed assets

As outlined in note 24, subsequent to the year end, sums have been receivable from other clubs in respect of appearance and sell-on clauses in respect of players previously sold. It is estimated that net income of at least £2,903,000 is to be reflected in the financial statements for the current year. Since the year end various players' registration have been sold or terminated and in respect of those it is estimated that net income of £24,462,000 is to be reflected in the financial statement for the current year.

449

75

In addition, there has been £nil received in respect of players out on loan.

Since the year end there have been several new player registrations. The net payments to which the Club is committed in respect of those transactions is estimated to be £8,089,000.

#### NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 28 Related party transactions

#### Entities with control over the entity

The following transactions took place with Hornets Investment Limited, the Company's immediate parent company:

As at 30 June 2022 the Company owed a total of £46,664,000 (2021: £71,679,000) in loans and a total of £2,785,000 (2021: £2,498,000) of unpaid interest to Hornets Investment Limited. Details of the loans are included in further detail in note 17.

During the year, management fees of £44,000 (2021: £94,000) were charged to the profit and loss account, payable to Hornets Investment Limited, the Company's immediate parent company.

During the year interest of £1,645,000 (2021: £3,513,000) was charged to the profit and loss accounts in relation to interest on loans from Hornets Investment Limited.

#### Key management personnel of the entity

Other than the directors there are no other members of key management. Directors' remuneration is reported in note 7.

#### Other related parties

The following transactions took place with Udinese Calcio SpA, a company under common control:

During the year, the Company was charged £278,000 (2021: £nil) by Udinese in respect of a transfer fee in relation to the purchase of player registrations and the Company charged Udinese £34,199,000 (2021: £26,049,000) in relation to the sale and future sale of player registrations. There is a balance of £24,775,000 (2021: £23,653,000) included in debtors and £37,571,000 (2021: £7,535,000) included in creditors at the balance sheet date relating to these transactions. The Company sent one (2021: two) player to Udinese on a temporary registration for a fee of £nil (2021: £nil).

# 29 Ultimate controlling party

The immediate parent company is Hornets Investment Limited, a company registered in England and Wales. Copies of the group accounts can be obtained from their registered office as follows, 38 Craven Street, London. England, WC2N 5NG.

The ultimate parent company and controlling party is Diversify Sport Investment S.a.r.l., a company registered in Luxembourg. The sole shareholder and therefore the ultimate controlling party is Gino Pozzo.

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

Cash absorbed by operations		
	2022	2021
		as restated
	£,000	£'000
Loss for the year after tax	(17,699)	(18,250)
Adjustments for:		
Finance costs	7,280	5,451
Investment income	(11)	(12)
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets	135	-
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets	29,737	35,982
Depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets	6,503	6,176
Foreign exchange gains on cash equivalents	337	(1,580)
Profit on disposal of player registrations	(15,337)	(55,719)
Tax	1,569	(787)
Decrease in deferred income	(60)	(60)
Movements in working capital:		
Increase in stocks	(69)	(48)
Increase in debtors	(27,042)	(13,563)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors	9,566	(1,113)
Cash absorbed by operations	(5,091)	(43,523)

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

							31
	Other loans Loans from Parent company	Finance leases	Directors' loans	Bank overdrafts	Cash at bank and in hand		Analysis of changes in net debt
(134,283)	(65.475) (71,679)	(463)	4,299	(477)	4 776	1 July 2021 £'000	
11,383	(12,071) 25,000	588	(3,099)	477	(3 < 76)	Cash flows	
(1,274)	1 1	(1,274)				New finance leases	
(1,274)	75 15	(75)			;	Other non-cash changes	
(17)						× 1	
(124,176)						30,	

# NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

#### 32 Prior period adjustment

Trot period adjustment		
Reconciliation of changes in equity		
	1 July	30 June
	2020	2021
	000'£	£'000
Equity as previously reported	8,943	(12,770)
Adjustments to prior year		
Wages and salaries	-	(5,276)
Equity as adjusted	8,943	(18,046)
Legary as adjusted	===	===
Reconciliation of changes in loss for the previous financial period		
·		2021
		£'000
Loss as previously reported		(20,941)
Adjustments to prior year		
Wages and salaries		2,691
Loss as adjusted		(18,250)

#### Notes to reconciliation

The accounts for the 12 months ended 30 June 2021 have been corrected by way of a prior period adjustment. This related to the timing of recognition of a transaction. The impact of that adjustment is as follows:

In the profit and loss account for the 12 months ended 30 June 2021, expenditure of £2,691,000 has been removed as this should have been reported in a previous period.

In the balance sheet as at 30 June 2021 an additional creditor due in less than one year has been added of £2,715,000 and an additional creditor due in more than one year has been added of £2,561,000.

The retained loss brought forward as at 1 July 2021 has increased by £5,276,000.

The total impact will reverse in the next 12 months to 30 June 2023.

This document was delivered using electronic communications and authenticated in accordance with the registrar's rules relating to electronic form, authentication and manner of delivery under section 1072 of the Companies Act 2006.